' UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT ﬁ. @ L;_:

- TATIANA VOROBIEVA and -

SOUTI{ERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE

‘COMMISSION, -

Plaintiff,

V.

- IGORPOTEROBA, ALEKSEY KOVAL and  : COMPLAINT
- ALEXANDER VOROBIEV, ) .

JURY DEMANDED

Defendants,

ANJALI WALTER, :
‘Relief Defendants.

The Securities and Exchange Commission (“Co
- SUMMARY
1. From at least July 2005 through February 2009, Igor Poteroba '

(“Poteroba”) and Aleksey Koval (“Koval”), two securities lndustry professmnals and

Koval’s friend, Alexander Vorobiev (“Vorobiév”), participated in a clandestine insider

trading ring that netted over $1 million in illicit profits by trading in advance of at least

eleven mergers, acquisitions, and other business combinations (collectively, “Business
- Combinations™).

..2.  Poteroba was the source of the material, nonpublic information about the

eleven impending transactions, which he learned through his work asan investment

~ banker in UBS Securities LLC’s (“UBS™) 'Global-Hcalthcare_ Group (“Healthcare




_ ‘Groﬁp”). Potcroba.nﬁ_sapbfop_riated thé material, no;lpublic ixifofmaiion fr_otn h1s
employer and its clients in breach of a duty of '(_:onﬁdentiality that he 6wed them.
-7 3. Dunng the ins_.ider tradmg s'cﬁémé, Potefc:i?a ,tfpped h1s fnend, Kéval, who
. mtum tipped his ﬁ-iel_l_d,AVOrobiev.' Potero_b‘a, Koval, and Vorobiev havé_ bénnections' |
through, among other things, the schools that they attended_and .rgsidences or mailing
addresses that they shared going back to at least 1992. | |
4. The's'chem'e:began in at least July .2005 when Kovai énd'Vofobie_v traded.
- in ad?ance of fhe dcqﬁisition of Guilfo’r_d Pharmaceutiéals Inc. by MGI Pharma. ‘Using,
: mnpné other means of communication, coded email messages that referred to securities
= as_“frequent flier miles” and “bonus Iﬁiles,” -Poteroba utg_é(i Koval to_purchése Guilford

securities prior to the public announcement of the Guilford acquisition.

5. With respect to subsequent transactions, Poteroba alsé Supplied :
information to Kovél using coded email messages that _referréa fo securities or money as
Macy"é wédding régistry gifts or “potatoes.”. For example, m disdussing the neéci to

“purchase Molecular Devices Corporation securities prior to the imminent bublic
annoﬁ.ncement of its merger, Poteroba wrote to Koval, “Let me know if you’ve startéd :
youi weddihg_regist_ry at Macy’s” and “Happ_j to talk about sales ite_mé and etc. . . . sale
- ends soon . . . so hurry up.”
6 | During-thé-cdurse of the scheme, Kovali used his 'hot-ne cémputer or ééll ‘
phone ;o access and to trade in Vorobiev’s on-line brokerage acéount. Koval also ﬁsed a
linked bankiri_g account to méke cash withdrawals from automated teller macﬁines in
Pasadena, California and Chicago, Illinois. In additioﬁ, Koval and Vorqbiev conducted

insider trading through brokerage accounts held in their owri names.



" Certain of the insider _trading was conducted through brokerage accounts
held in the names_ of .T-atiana Vorobieva, -Vorobiev;s wife, and Anjali Walter, Koval’s
'-Wi_fe, and portions e'f the proceeds from the illicit trading Were_ received by Vdrobie_va and

Walter. Accordingly, Vorobieva end Walter are named as relief defendants in this actib_n.
8. - Each of the Defen'dants Violat_ed Section 10(b) of the Se_c':urities Exchange

Act of _1934 (“Exchange Act™) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17 CFR.§ 240.10b-

5] thereunder and Section 14(e).'.of-th.e Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78n(e)] end Rule 14e-_3_
[17CFR.§ 240.14e-3] thereunder. The Commission reql_lests.that the Court enjoin each
‘Defendant from violating the foregoing securities laws, order each Defendant to dlsgorge
their unlawful proﬁts with prejudgment interest, 1mpose civil monetary penaltles on each

Defendant and order such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate.
9.  Unless temporarily restrained and prelimina.rily enjoined, the Defendants
will continue to violate the federal securities laws and attempt to hide and dissipate assets

and monies generated by the illegal trading.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
| 10. This Court has jurisdiction of tlﬁs action pursuant to Sections 21(d), 21(e),
214, and 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d)(1), 78u(e), 7_8u-.1, and 78aa]. The
~ Defendants, directly or indi_rectly,_ singly or in‘co.ncert with 0.thets, r_nade_use of the means
or. instruments of transportation e.nd comlln'unieati:on of interstate eomtneree; or of tne |
mails, or the facilities of a national secun'_tiés exchange in .connection with the

transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged in this Complaint.



1 1. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to Section 27 of the 'EXChange Act
[15 U.S.C. § 78aa] becauise certain acts and transactions constituting the violations
‘occurred in the 'Sout.bem District of New York.
12.©  Defendants _w_ﬂl, unless restrained and enjoined, continue'to engage mthe
acts, pfactiees, transactions, and courses of business alleged in this Complaint, or in acts,

' .practices, transactiors, and courses of business of similar purport and object.

' DEFENDANTS AND RELIEF DEFENDANTS "

13. | Igor Peterol.)a,. age 36,isa fesident of Daﬁeﬁ,' Cdnﬁeeticut. He was borm
in_Moscow; Russia, is a Ruséian_ citizen; and has_green cardirr.lmig'ratio'r.l status. During
“the releva_ll_t.period, Poterobalh_as been an investment _faanker in the Healtheare"Group of

UBS, where he has been erﬂpleyed since 1999. |
14 A_leksey Koval (a/k/a Alexei Koval), age 36, wae a resident of Pasadena,
: California from mid-2006 .through mid-2009. He was Bom in Kemerovo, Russia, is a
Russian cifizen,' and has green card immigration status. From June 2000 until January
| 2006, he was emplc;yed. by .Citigroup Asset Management, a registered broker-dealer and
'investment a(iviser. Ffom January 2006 until his tenninatioh ih March 200_9, Koval was
employed by Weétefn Asset Management, a registered investment adviser and a Wholly-
: 6\&ped Shbsidiaiy of Legg 'Masoh, Inc I_Jpop _infOrmatier} and belie._f, K‘oval-v is cprrenﬂf |
: employed with Northern Trast Bank in Chicage, Illineis;.. ) .‘
15. VAle.Xal»,lder Vofobiev; bage 34,is believed currently to reside in Russia and
isa Ruseian- _ei_tiz_en. From April 2001 through May 2008, Vorobiev‘ resided in Toronto,

'Onfari_o, Canada.




16.  Anjali Walter (f‘Whlter”), age 35, is the wife of Koval and her last "
knthl address was in Pasadena, California. |
- 17. Tatiana Vorobieva, age 33, is the wife of Vorobiev. Her last known '
address was in Toronto, Ontario, but she is believed to currently reside in Russia. She is

~ a Russian citizen.

RELEVANT ENTITY

18 UBS Secuntles LLC (“UBS”) is a Delaware hmlted liability company
| wnh‘ its pr1rtc1pal place of business in Stamford, Connectlcut Itisa broker-dealer
_reglstered with the Comm1s51on pursuant to Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act and a '
' subsidiary of UBS AG. UBS AG, a financial institution t_hat provides wealth -
ttlatlagement, inVestrhent banking, emd aoset management servicee, maintains ite
: heodquarters in Zurich, Switzertand, and operates in over fifty countries, including the
United States.' 'UBS’s‘ Healthcare Group provides ad\tice to healthcare companies and
venture capxtal ﬁrms involved in the healthcare sector concerning origination, structuring,

and execution of, among other thmgs merger and acqulsmon transactlons

STATEMENT OF FACTS

UBS’s Insider ;Trading and Confidentiality Policies

19, From at least 2005, UBS has maintained policies that prohibit UBS

o employeee from using conﬁdentlal 1nformat10n recelved during their work on behalt' of
UBS cl_ients to trade in any security or to advise other peopl_e to trade in securitieS’_based
on such nonpublic information. Those internal policies also prohibit UBS employees

E from'disclosing confidential client information to anyone outside of the firm.



20. UﬁS’s céﬁip]iance group_ rl'néintainsb a‘“vGre-y Lié’i”'of UBS clients: invol'\..l_éd_
- in business tr_ans'actioqs where UBS is pr(widii;g investment bankmg services_; The Gresf '

B Listisa highly conﬁdential list of clients, issuefs and othéf relevant partiés (colleéfive_ly

_ .‘,‘Is'Suersf’)_in rgilation to Whig;h'UB-S,has éensitiye inform'ation._ Sensitive infofmaﬁon'is |
defined by UBS as “knowlgdge_of a prospe_cﬁve ,transactiqrx,' project or event, sﬁch as ar
merger, acquiéi.tibn, cqrporéﬁe restt_'ucturing, capita_l #wrkét"‘of .sin-iil.ar type 6f

_ traﬁ§3qtiori.” ané an Issuer is placed on UBS’s Grevy‘:Lis.t, UBS staff.me_imb_é_rs afﬁliat'ed

§vith fhe Issuer transactvio.x';.are advised that the Issuer has béen added 't.o.'th.e Grey List and ‘

that they are prohibited from trading in the Issuer’s securities. In additién, the staff is

prohibited from communicating any sensitive infqnnation about the I_ssu_erit_o anyone,

éxc’eﬁt.'other x'rllem‘bers.of UBS who are éubj ectto tﬁe same conﬁdéniiality requirenienf

regarding the Issuer.

21, Atall rélevént times, Potérobé was a registeréd rebresen_tative with UBS
| and‘ was aware of these confidentiality and ins_ider trading policies. Upon information and
- belief, Poteroba undérstood 'thé purpose of the Grey List and its( restﬁcti_ons. |
22.  Poteroba knew, or was reckless in not knowing, that.he owed a fiduciary
duty to his employer UBS, and to UBS’s clients to kéep conﬁdential and not disclose,
pﬁrsbnally use, or misappropriate the material, nonpublic information that he learned about
UBS’S Clie;nts‘-and tﬁéir, business trénsécﬁons in the _cburse of his work_.

Poteroba’s Access to Material, Nonpublic Information Regarding
the Business Combinations '

23.  Poteroba has been employed by UBS in its Healthcare Group since April
.1999. During his employment with UBS, he has been steadily promoted within the

. Heaithcafe'Group. Since 2006, Pdt_erobé has_sei'ved as an Executive Director of the UBS -



_: Heélthcare Grdup; In ﬂlat'cépacity, his fesponsibijiﬁés .;1.nlclud'ed .ad\}is:ing issuers nnd
| venturecapitél firms involved in fhé healthéa‘ré sector on ﬂle drigjnati(m,- structuring, and
execution (I)f,' among other things, merger. and acqnisition trénsacﬁons‘ | |
24. v_UBS’S Healthcare Group was re_tainéd by one of the parties asﬂa financial
adviser in tenl_of vthe elevén Business Cnmbinnﬁons_' identiﬁed belo_v_v;
25. - With regard to the eleverith Business Combmation, UBS éonght, but
1ﬂthnate1y fajled, to be retajned as an adviser to one nf the participating entities.
26, Asa member of the He_é.lthcaié Group, Poteroba was aware of, or had
_aéc_ess to, highh confidential material information concerning each of the Bus_iness.
Combinations before the public disc_losure of the Bus_iness Combinations.'
27. | In breacl-l' of his fiduciary duties,-Pntéroba misappropfiatéd' fhat informéiion _
by tipping Koval.
Connections beﬁveen P.ote'roba, Koval, and Vorobiev
' 28.  Upon information and belief, Poteroba, Koval, and Vorobiev have known
each other .for more tnan ten years. Potefoba, Koval, and Vorobiev were bom in Russia;_ o
Kovél and Vorobiev _Were both born in the city of Kemerovo. -
29. Between 1992 and 1997, Pot_eroba, Koval, and Vorobiev attended the
University of New Haflen, in New Haiven, Connecticut as undergraduntes. Poteroba
. graduated in 1 995, Koval left in 1996,. and Vorobiev graduated 1n 1997. .Upo-n .
infotmétion and belief, Poteroba and K_oVal sharnd a cn-mmon'rresidence ,nddres's dnnng
- part of this timev. Bét\&een 1995 and 1998, Poteroba and Koval were enrolled in the MBA
program at Baruch_ College in New York_ City. Poteroba received his MBA degree in

1997, and Koval received his the f_ollowing year.




30 At various imes between 1997 through 2008, Vorobiev has used as his
'nrailjng address a numher.:' of '.the resi_dences in New York and New Jersey vvhere Poteroba .
" and Koval resided,:together or sepa.rately._.

31 - During the relevant period Poteroba and Koval have maintained regular

" contact and commumcatlons The1r commumcatlons have’ con51sted of ﬁequent telephone
~ callsand emalls Addmona]ly, during the periods when they both were located in New
York, they socialized w1th each other. After Koval left New York, they contmued to

| _socrahze together when v151t1ng the other’s crty of employment

| 32. Dunng the relevant period, Vorobiev and Koval commumcated by

= telephone and email. B 7

| 33, Fromat least 2065 to.the present,-_l(oval traded inthe tipped secuntres in an
- on-line ‘brokerage accou_nt maintained in Vorobiev’s name. 'Ilns_account was initially- |
maintained at RushTrade Securities. RushTrade acquired Terra Nova Financial, LLCin
2006, and narned -the combined entity Ter.rar Nova Financial (hereinafter, both l{us_hTrade
| and Terra Nova are collectively referred to as “Terra Nova”). The .account. records for |
Vorobiev;s brokerage account at Terra Nova (the'“”l.“er'ra Nova Account”) shoxv that
Koval has never been formally authorized to trade in Voroblev’s: Terra Nova Account.

Despite this, on numerous occasions over a period of at least four years, Koval has

| accessed the Terra Nova Account and executed trades in the tlpped secuntles Smce 2005 L

' both Voroblev and Koval have transferred funds mto and out of the Terra Nova Account -
‘Further, from January 2008 to the present, Koval has w1thdrawn a total of nearly $125 000

in regular monthly withdrawals. from Vorobiev’s Terra Nova Account.



|34 | Upan inforrrlation and Belief; Vorabiev has not at_te_rn-ptéd' to stop '_Koval’s‘

tradmg m, or cash withdrawals from, the Terra Nova Accauht

' 35. | On at least one occas10n, in February 2008, Koval used hlS personal credlt
_card to pay for airline t1ckets for VOI‘OblCV his wife, and thelr child to travel from Canada
~ tothe Dommlcan Repubhc |

| | The Insrder Tlppmg and Tradmg

36.  From at least July 2005 through February 2009, Poteroba knowingly or

réc_klessly t1pped KoVal, a.nd‘K-oval 'knoWirlgly or recklessly tipped Vor;)biev with material,
nonpublic information concerning the eléverr Business Combinations that Poterob.a |

misappropriated from UBS.

37. By providing’the inside information to Koval, Poteroba conferred a benefit
. lipqn his friend. By providing the inside informati_on to Vorobiev, Koval conferred a

benefit upon his friend.

38. Koval, a securities indusrry professional, krlew that Poteroba was. employed
by UBS as an invesrrnent banker, and hiew or should have known that .the information that
Poter'oba provided to him regarding the imp'ending Business Combinations had béan
obtained in breach of Poteroba’s duty of trust or canﬁdence ta UBS and its clients.

| 39 Vorobiev knew or should have known that the_-information that Koval
* provided to him egarding the impending Business Combinations had been obtained in

breach of a duty of trust or confidence.




Guilford Pharmaceuticals Inc. -

40 | On March 16 2005 representatlves of Guilford Pharmaceutlcals, Inc
o (“Gliilford’;), a_Delaware corporation, met w1th UBS to discuss sellmg Guilford to a third . '.
- party. | | | | ‘.
: 41. . At all relevant times, Guilfcrd.’s common ,.stock ‘was registered_ with the , |
.vComrni'ssi_o_n 'pmsuanf to Section 12@) of the Ei(change Act and was traded on
NASDAQ. '_ " | |
| 42.  The inforrnation ihat' G'uil'i‘ord -provided to UBS regarding the
- ccntemplat_ed- transac’__tion was highly conﬁdential and was not intend,ed to be disclosed
' '_ 't‘)efcre the transaction_-Was ccmpl_eted and publicly announced. '
43, After. the initial meeting with Guilford"s represenfatives, UBS’s
Investment Banking_ Depa_rtinent had irlternal- discussions regarding the contemplated
A transaction. Poteroba participated in those discussions and. was assigned to the Guilford
“deal team. On March .16, 2005, Guilford was added to UBS’s Grey List. On March 21,
.' . 2005; C.}uilford retained UBS as its iinanciai adviser regarding the sale of the company.
| 44. On June 10,. 2005, MGI Pnanna advised Guilford that it would pai $3.75
.i?_er share to acquire C_iuilford and circulated a draft Merger Agreement; Thereafter, the
. ’parties began their respective due diiigence reViews On July 7, 2005, UBS conducted |
. due dihgence on MGI Phanna. On Fnday, July8, UBS bankers part101pated ina meetmg L
wnh the Gullford Board of Dlrectors and dlscussed their due dlllgence ﬁndmgs B
- 45. By July 12, 2005 Poteroba, in his capacity asa UBS employee and a

member of the Guilford deal team had learned material, nonpubhc mformatlon regarding

L the Guilford acquisition.



46. 'On Tuesday, July 12, 2005{, at 9:16 p.m. (éll times used m this Complaint- _'
~ are Eastern Standard Time), Poteroba sent an email from his UBS corporate emall
.acceunt to Koval at his Citigroup corporate' email address, 'stating:

Call me tomorrow. . 1f I’m on the line, have me mterrupted . .Ope of your.
ﬁ‘lends from US called and said shé would hke to get together wﬁh you again. .

. Let me know how much time you want to spend with her. . . We should arrange-

this meeting ASAP. . . . I recall you had some thmgs put away on my behalf. . .let = - '

me know what’s left

47. Upon information and belief, tlie above'ema'i'l was a'coded. messag'e that.

- APoteroba sent to Koval to indicate there was an m51der tradmg opportumty, and that

Poteroba had prev1ously given money to Koval and wanted to use those funds in this
‘ tran_sa_ct_mn.» ' _ S
N . 48. VOr-l July 1'2., 2005, at 9:36 p.m.;'ﬁfteen minutes after sertdihg the email to
. Koval, Poteroba sent a sepérate email to a membet of the UBS Healthcare Group team
advising Guilfb_fd asking, “[W]hat’s the deal with G?” rProteroba received an itnmediate
' .respOn;_se stating, “We’ll find otx’t Sunday niéht [July 17_“‘]. . .boar_d -call[;]?’ |
' 49. -On» the next day, Wednesday; July 13,' 2005, at 1:20 p.m., Poter'_oba sent a
second email to Kovai, staﬁng: “[C]an you pls give me a 'caﬂ. .. Ttied [stc] you a couple
- of times and the call is not going throu_gh. L
50, Poteroba tlpped Koval with material, nonpubhc mformatlon regardmg the
e .'Gm]ford acqm51t10n In domg so, Poteroba m.lsappropnated from UBS materlal
R nonpubhc mformatlon concernmg Guilford’s plans to be acqmred Koval in turn,
. tipped Vorobiev with matenal, nonpubhc information regarding the Guilford

acquisition.

T



51. On July 13, 2005, between 2 OO and 4:00 p m., on n the bas1s of materlaL
nonpubhc mformatlon obtamed from Koval Voroblev bought 2,400 shares of Gullford

stock in his TD Ameritrade brokerage account at a cost of $5 435. Dunng the same day,

' Voroblev bought an add1t10nal 7, 000 shares of Guﬂford stock i in one of his Royal Bank of |

_ Canada brokerage accounts (-“RBC _account”) at a cost of $15,992 (C$19,809).
52. .Also onJuly 13, 2005, Tatiana Vorobieya’s TD Ameritra'de brokerage |
. account bought .3,450-shar,es of Guilford stock at a cost of $7,967 and 150 _Guilford Sept.

25 “call option” contracts_at a cost of $6,123. o
53. A “call option” contract is the right, bot not the obligation, to buy 100
 shares of a specific stock at a specified price -(the “strike priC'e”) on or befor-e a speciﬁed
date typlcally the third Fnday of every month. For example a “Sept 2, 5” call optlon is
one that may be exercised at a price of $2. 50 per share of the underlying stock on or
‘before the third Friday of September 2005. _Call options become profitable when the
market price of the underl_ying stock exceeds the strike price of the call option.

54, On Thursday, July 13, 2005, at 8:37 p.m., Poteroba sent Koval an erna_il
stating: |

Subject: Keep me posted as to how

* K ok

[m]any frequent flier mJles you ve got this far and how many you plan to get by
* - Friday [.] Will be in Boston tomorrow [.] Plans for a trip look fine so far [- ] Worst
case we can get a refund by Monday, hopefully we do not[.] _

55.  On July .14', 2005, at 6:52 a.m_., Koval emalled -Poteroba responding:

AsI mentloned I just got into this frequent flyer program.

T got five thousand of sign-in bonus miles but thinking maybe if I fly often, T will
- get additional three to five K miles. .

56. A half-hour later, at 7:32 a.m., Poteroba responded to Koval stating:

. 12



On the frequent ﬂyer program topic: you mentloned, I thmk you should sign up for '
another ﬂrght, 1f you can, since they are provrdmg bonus mrleage soon[ 1. '

| 57. Upon mformatlon and behef the above emalls represent coded messages '
- between Poteroba and Koval relatlng to tradmg that Koval had, or planned to, execute in
E _Gurlford stock_ :

58. | ' On Friday, July 14, 2005, Koval wired $5, 000 into Vorobrev s Terra Nova
_Account ﬁ'om Koval’s personal Crtlbank checkmg account The Terra Nova Account
v .had been inactive for nearly SiX months | |

, 59.‘ . On July 15, 2005 upon 1nformat10n and belief, Koval bought 2,100 shares | '
‘of Guilford stock in the Terra Nova»Account at a total cost of $4,983. The amount' wired
" into Vorobie__v-’s Terra Nova Account and u'sed_to buy the thlford stoci( —-.'approx.imat'ely'
$5,000  is consistent with the amount of “sign-in bonus miles” ~ 5,000 — referred to in
the coded er_na.il'sent by Kot/al to Poteroba on July 14, 2005 |
60. On July 15, 2005 Vorobrev bought 1 040 shares of Gurlford stock at a N
cost of $2,453 (C$3,071) in his RBC account.
61. Also onJuly 15, 2005; Tatiana Vorobiev:a’s.TD Arneritrade broker_age
account: (i) bought forty-eight.Guilford Sept. 2.5 call option contracts atacost of $2,218; -
and (ii) sold 450 shares of Guilford stock at $2.38 per share for proceeds of §1, 058. The

sale of 450 shares and the purchase of forty eight call optrons effectrvely exchanged a

- 450 share posrtlon for the equrvalent of a4, 800 share pos1t10n, thereby mcreasrng by overf oL

tenfold the ab111ty to proﬁt from a rise in the price of’ Gurlford stock.
62.  OnlJuly15;2005, in the evenmg, Gurlford’s board and representatrves of

UBS discussed the MGI Pharma offer during a telephone conference. _
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- 63 - On Monday, July 18, 2005, Voroblev mcreased his position in Gmlford by

purchasmg 9,900 shares of Gmlford stock at a cost of $23 760 (C$29 645) in his RBC

account.

64.  Also on July 18, Koval w1red $4 800 into Voroblev s Terra Nova Account

_ from his Cltlballk checkmg account

65. That evening, Gullford’s board met to consider'the MGI Pharma offer.

- UBS bankers attended the board meetmg, at whrch the Gullford board approved the

-transaction with MGI Pharma.

66. On July 19_, 2005, upon information and belief, Koyal bought 2,030 shares

of Gullford stock at a cost of $4,780 in the Terra Nova Account ThlS money transfer and

" the subsequent stock purchases are con51stent w1th Koval’s coded statement in the J uly

14 email that he “will get additional three to five K miles. . . .”

| 67.  OnJuly 20, 2005, Guilford’s Board of Directors met and approved the
ﬁn’al merger agreement, which was executed by Guilford and MGI Pharma later tlre same‘
evening. | |

68.  On Thursday, July 21, 2005, prior to the opening of trading, Guilford

publicly announced that it would be acquired by MGI Pharma for $3.75 per share in cash

and stock. Guilford’s stock closed at $3.40, a forty-one percent increase over the prior

' day s closing prrce of $2:41 per share.

- 69. Followmg the announcement on July 21, 2005 upon 1nformat10n and
belief, Koval sold all of the Guilford Stock in the Terra Nova Account for a proﬁt of

$4,543.



-. 70. _ Also on July 21, 2005 Vorobiev sold 10, 000 shares of Gullford stock
,. from hrs RBC account for a proﬁt of approxrmately $10, 030 On the same day, Vorobrev
| also sold all of the 2,400 sh_ares of Gullford in his TD Amentrade account for a proﬁt of
. $2,884. | | " | | |
o .‘ ) 71. . Als_o on July 21., 2005, Tatiana Vorobieva’s TD_Ameritrade account sold

'ninety-eight Guilford calI'Option contracts and 3,000 shares of Guilford stock for profits

' _of $5,557 on the optrons and $3 393 on the stock

72.' On July 27, 2005, Tatiana Vorobleva s TD Amentrade account: (1) sold
thirty of the remaining call optlonS' and 1)) took delrvery of and then sold 7,000 shares of
. Guﬂford stock aﬁer exercrsmg the ﬁnal seventy optrons for a proﬁt of approxrmately
$5670 | | |

73. On July 27, 2005 , Vorot)iev transferred' the remaining 7,94Q shares of
Guilford stock .in his RBC account to Tatiana Vorobieva’s RBC account On J uly 29 and
August 1, 2005 Tatlana Vorobreva s RBC account sold the 7 940 Gullford shares fora
profit of approxunately $8 760 |

74.  Ilicit proﬁts from trading in the Guilford securities described above are
divided as fotloWs; accounts m the name of Taﬁana Vorobieva generated approximately

$23, 381 in total profits; Alex Vorobiev’s trad'mg in his own accounts generated $12 914

_in total proﬁts and upon mformatron and belief, Koval’s tradmg in Voroblev S Terra L

: Nova Account generated $4 543 mtotal proﬁts



I]) Biomedical Corp
) 75. On June 17, 2005 ID Blomedlcal Corp (“]D Bromedlcal”) and
-GlaxoSImthKlme PLC (“GSK”) executed a conﬁdentlallty agreement and thereafter. -
‘shared conﬁdentlal mformatmn regardrng a possrble business comblnatlon.
76 | At all.relevant times, ID Biomcdical‘fs common. stock was registered yvith
the Commission pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange Aect and was traded on
' NASDAQ D Blomedlcal was a Canadran company
77. - On or about July 8, 2005, the UBS Healthcare Group assembled a deal
team to adyise ID Biomedical. Poteroba-was a member of the UBS deal team for the ID
| Blomedlcal transaction. At that time, UBS placed ID Blomedlcal on the UBS Grey L1st
78 On July 15, 2005 D Biomedical’s Board of D1rectors authorlzed the
' chpany’s management to begin negotiations with GSK regarding a possible acquisition
of ID Biomedical by GSK.. | |
79.  On July 20, 2005, ID Biomedical engaged UBS as lts exclusive adviser |
~ with regard to a possible acquisition. |
| 80.  The information that the ID Biomedical representatives provided to UBS
regarding the contemplated transaction was highly confidential and was not intended to'
be drsclosed before the transactron was complete and publicly announced.
81. On or before July 29, 2005, Poteroba, in his capa01ty as a UBS employee R%
| 'had learned materlal nonpubhc mformatlon regardmg the ID Blomed1cal acquls1t10n |
; 82‘._‘ On or before July 29, 2005, Poteroba. tipped Koval wrth material,
' nonpublic lnfonnation regarding the ID Biomedical acqu_isit_ion. In doing so, Poteroba

rrlisappropriated from UBS material, nonpublic information concerning ID Biomedical’s



. | plans to be aoquiréd. Koval; in turn, tlpped Vorobiev w1th materiél; nonpublio _:.'I. B
information regarding the Ib Biomedical acq'uisition.
83, OnFriday, July 29,2005, on iriformation and belief, Koval purchased
L l1 ;400 shares of ID Biomedical stock in Vorobiev’s Terra NoVa Account at a cost of
$28,127. | | |
84. On the same day, -V()r'obiey purchased a total of 310 D Biomedtcul
| _' August 20 call option _con'tr_e_lcts in his TD Ameritrade and RBC broko_ragoaooounts at_a
cost of $34,909. ‘ | | |
- 85. Alsoon Jauuary 29, Tatiana Vorobieva’s TD Ametitrade account.
_purchaséd 319 D Biomedical August 20 oall options at a oost of $29,656. On the same
' déy, two separate RBC accounts in her. name putchased 2.,9_60. shar'e.‘s of ID'Bioutodicul' |
 stock at a cost of $59,569. ' |
- 86. 'On_Mo.n.day, August 1,2005, upon h1formation and belief, Koval bought

an additional 310 shares of ID Biomedical stock in Vorobiev’s .Te'.rra Nova Account. On |
Wednesday, August 3, upon information and béliéf, he sold those shares and bought ‘
: tWelve ID Biomedical Sept. 20 call option contracts, which effectively gave him a 1,200

~ share position in ID Biomedical stock. |
87. Alsoon August 3, Vorobiev purchased ﬁftyvéight iD '.BiOmodical Sept. 20
~.7." call option contracts in hjs Ftrstrade‘ Secuﬁties account. - |

o 88. On'Tﬁursday, Augus_t 4; 2005; Kovall.s.old '1;406 shotes-of 1D Biomedicat '
stock from the Terra Nova Account und_uurchasod ‘forty-nine D Btomedical'Sept 20 cail
option contracts in the :same account. By selling the 1,400 shar_es of ID Bi_omedicat stook'

“and replacing them with the forty-nine call options, Koval increased his ability to benefit
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' -ﬁom a rlse m the price of ID Biomedical stoek by obtaining the ri:ght .to purchase an ..
- additional 3 500 shares of ID Biomedical stock. .
89. Also on August 4, Voroblev bought 490 shares of ID Blomedlcal stock in
' _h1s Firstrade Securltres account. VOI'OblCV sold those shares on August 5. _
90. On Monday, August 8 2005 upon mformatlon and belief, Koval bought
- an addittonal thlrty-three ID Biomedical Sept. 20 call optlon contracts in the Terra Nova
Account. | | | “
91.  On August 8, Vorobiev sold 1.95 ID Biomedical call option contracts in
his RBC account at a loss of$17,569. |
92. . Insummary, by the close of trading on August 8, 2005, defendants had
a '.e'stablish.e'd' the folioWing positions in ID _Bi‘omedical securities: (1) upon information and
belief, Koval -- trading in Vorobiev’s Terra Nova Account - held a total of ninety-four
- ID Biomedical call option contracts; (2) Vorobiev held 173 ID Biomedical call option
- contracts; and (3)_ aceounts 1n the name of Tatiana Vorobieva held 319 1D .Biornedical
call options and 2,960 shares of ID Bromedical stock. "
| 93. On Tuesday, August 9, 2005 'GSK asked for an approx1mately one month
delay in the negotlatrons with ID Biomedical. In response, ID Blomedlcal called off all
discussions with GSK. |
94. _ Upon mformatlon and behef on or before August 9, 2005 Poteroba
o learned that the negotlatlons between ID B10med1ca1 and GSK had been termmated and
. conveyed thls information to Koval. Koval, m.turn, ,eonveyed this 1nformat10n to.

Vorobiev.
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95. Begmmng on August 9, 2005 and contrnumg through August 12 a]l of the |
ID B10med1ca1 stock and call option contracts held i m Tatrana Vorobleva s RBC and TD
. Amerltrade' accounts were sold, reahzmg a proﬁt of approxrmately $700. in the ]D
Biomedical stock and a loss of approxunately $5 620 on the call optlon contracts

96.: . Alsoon August 9, Voroblev sold four ID Blomedrcal call optlon contracts .
held in his TD Amerrtrade account. | |

97. On Thursday, Au.gust' 11, 2005, Poteroba sent an email frorn his UBS :
~ corporate email account o 'K_oval_ at his Citigroup emai1> address.' In the email, titled.
“Canadian Trin,” Poteroba stated: |

| -~ Hope all is well. As we talked we should cancel our canadian [sic] trip.I .. hope

you got all our deposit back. - There are other travel bargains I’m looking into. . .

some 70% discounts to what soon will become a full price. Canada trip was

overpriced as we all realized. . :

98. Upon _mformatron and belief, the August 11 email was a coded rnessage
. from Poteroba to Koval regarding the sale of ID Biomedical securities in light of the

breakdown in negotiations bettzveen the parties. As noted above, at that tim.e,- D |
| Biomedical was located in Canada. |
99.  From August 12, 2005 through August 17, 2005, Vorobiev sold the
remaining 179 ID Biomedical call option'contrac'ts held in his TD Ameritrade account |

- and Flrstrade Securities account, reallzrng a loss of approxrmately $11 290 . |

1'00. Upon mformatlon and behef on August 22 2005, Koval sold all 94 of the ._
ID Biomedical call option contracts held in the Terra Nova Account. KoVal_’s tradmg m

the Vorobiev Terra Nova Account generated a profit of _approximately $16,000. |

101. On August 31, 2005, ID Biomedical and GSK resumed negoti_ations.
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- 102." On September 7, 2005 ID B10med1ca1 and GSK pubhcly announced thelr -
B vmerger agreement ID Biomedical’s stock closed at $29.49, a thirteen percent 1ncrease
: .over the prior day’s closing price of $26 per share.

103. On Friday, September 2, 2005, $7,_(_)OO was wired from the Terra Nova
Account to an account in Vdrobiev’s name .a't a Russian bank. .T‘he wire was returned to
 the Terra Nova Account four days later.

104. On Tuesday, September 13, 2005, at 2:07 p m., Poteroba sent a message:
from his UBS emall account to Koval at his C1t1group emarl address contammg, upon
information and belief, a coded inquiry about the transfer of the profits from the insider
trading. In the email, which had the subject line, “Potatoes,” Pote_roba asked Koval:

" Let'me know if you finished your recent harvest arrangements and how many |
kilos are available for my parents. They are in Turkey now and could use some
once they are back.

- 105.  Approximately two hours later on September 13, 2005, Koval responded:
This year the potato yield was not as high as the last one. Whaterrer is collected is’
now bemg transported in the warehouse, with special climate conditions, from
where it is going to be available for delivery. My estimates are about 6.8 kilo per
square yard. . . .Of course, some potato [sic] need to be left for the next year [sic] .
seeds [sic] but it should not be a concern since I have a vendor who will provide -
enough once the spring comes. :
106. Upon information and behef the “6.8 krlo” ﬁgure is an approximate

reference to the $7,000 that had been w1red out of the Terra Nova Account two weeks
earller and subsequently returned
- 107.. Subsequently, on October 20 2005, a wire in the amount of $1 1,000 was

sent from the Terra Nova Account. These funds ultlmately-were deposrted into a

brokerage account maintained by Vorobiev at Firstrade Securities Inc.
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Molecular Devices Corp.

" 108.. -. On November 7, 20'(:)6, the -Board of Directors of Molecular l_)evices Corp.
.”(“MOIecular’;), a Delaware corpo_ration-, authorized UBS to conduct- a controlled auction ._
: proces',_sl for the sale of Molecular.

109_._ At all relevant- times, Molecular’s cornmon stock was registered with the
o -ConrmiSSion pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act and was traded on
l\lASDAQ. |
- 110. The information that the Molecular représentatives provided to UBS:
regarding the contemplated transaction was highly .conﬁdential and was not intended to
be disclosed before the transaction was completed and publicly announced
- 111.  From early November 2006 through rmd—December 2006, UBS contacted
' potential purchasers on behalf of Molecular and Molecular executed confidentiality
agreements with twelve companies, including MDS, Inc. (“MDS”). Each of the twelve
companies, including MDS, was invited to submit a preliminary,_ non-binding indication
ofi mterest by or before December 8, 2006 _
| 112. Between November 16, 2006 and December 8, 2006 members of
Molecular s management and representatives of UBS met or had telephone conferences
-w1th ten of the twelve compames that had been invited to submit indications ofi mterest
mcludrng MDS
113. After rece1v1ng 1ndicatrons of i interest from five compames Molecular s
board met on DeCembe‘r 1 1,‘200_6, witll_representatiVes of UBS in atténdance, 'and
.. authorized Molecular’s management and UBS to c.ontinu_e discusﬁons with the three

companies that had the highest offer prices, including MDS.




- 114." - Beginning on_December ."15, 2006, Molecular alloyved MDS and the other
two companies to conﬁ.dent‘ially conduct due dlligenc‘e on'Molec_ular. |
- 11-5. | On December 22,2006, UBSY sent lett‘er_s' to the three prospectiVe acquirers - -
._ 1nv1t1ng t'hem. to submit “best and ﬁnal” offers for the aequisition of Molecular. |
116. On January 17,2007, MDS and the other two potential purchaSers E
submitted revised bids to Molecular and UBS. |
117. " Onl anuary 20, 2007, UBS'revievyed the bids With Molecular’s _Board of
o Di'r.ectors. and the Board agreed to an exclusivity agreement thh MDS. | |
118. On January 21, 2007, Molecular’s outside counsel sent a draft merger
agreement to MDS’s legal counsel | o
ll9. . On or before January 21, 2007 Poteroba in his capacity as a UBS
employee, had leamed material, nonpubhc information regarding the 1mpend1ng
'. Molecular acqujsition | |
. 120. On Sunday, January 21, 2007, at 8:48 p.m,, Koval called Poteroba and the
call lasted approx1mately six minutes. The followmg Monday, January 22, 2007, at
11:36 am., Koval again _called Poteroba and the duration of the call was four minutes.
'121.  Upon information and belief, duringtheée or other communications
- between Poteroba and Koval, Poteroba tipped Koval with material, nonpul)lic
meormatron rega.rdmg the Molecular acqu1s1t10m In doing so, Poteroba mrsappropnated
materral nonpubllc 1nformat1on from UBS concerning Molecular s 1mpend1ng
a_cqur_s1t1on. ' _
- 122. - On Monday, January 2'2,.2007, at 2:10 p.m., upon infonnation and .bellef,

Koval purchased..300 shares of Molecular stock, five Molecular Feb. 22.5 call opti_on_ _

-




contracts and ten Molecular March 25 call options in Vorobi'ev’s Terra. Nova Account
~ atacost of $8,606. Also on January 22, upon information and bel1ef Koval sold three -
' Molecular Apr11 25 call option contracts in the Terra Nova Account
123.  Later that day, at approx1mately 4:44 p.m,, Poteroba sent an email from
" his UBS email account to Koval at his Citigroup email address with the subject line: “Let
- me know if you ve started your weddmg reglstry ‘at Macy’ ” The body of the email
' states, “Happy to talk about sales items and etc. . . .saleen‘ds soon. . .so hurry up.” Upon
information and belief, Poteroba sent this coded message to ask Koval whether he had
begun purchasing shares of Molecular stock.
124. A half hour later;, at 5:20 p.m., Koval respondedto Poteroba’s earlier
emai-l, stating:\ :
| Yep, I have set it up. Better do it now when they have [a] sale. I could not
believe how many things one needs once engaged. Single life was much easier if
you ask me. It is always [a] good idea to know about coupons available. I try to
~ follow up on the rebates programs currently in place but often miss many due to
lack of time. Thanks for pointing it out to me. '
Although wedding day is not yet announced, I hope to get all the important items

ahead of time: I even started buying small things that [are] usually not important
until you need them.

~125.  Two minutes later, at 5:22 p.m., Poteroba responded:
. Good points. . .sale ends on Friday. . .see'if you can get registered for as many
items as possible...more you get now. . .more you save. . .We should start -
- tracking these events more actlvely ' :

L ) 126 Upon mformatlon and bel1ef Poteroba and Koval, through these coded
h rnessages,' signaled that: (i) Koval should purchase Molecular, securities (“get registered
* for as many items as possible™); and (iiy that the opportunity to buy Molecular securities

prior to the public announcement would last until Friday, January 26, 2007 (i.e., ‘fsale

ends on Friday”).
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127 Duririg the wegk of 'January"22, 2007-, Molecular’s counsel and MDS’s

iﬁtérnal and outside counsel continued to négot_iaté the fernis. of, and exchangcd drafts of,_'
th¢ merger agreenient, and Molecular’S_ manégement coﬁtiﬁued- fo respohd_' to due
~ diligence réquest_s anci questions from MDS. | |
128. | On January 26, 2007, at a special mee__tirig, the MDS Board of Dirécfors
| rapproved the mergér agreement with Moleculé.r. On January 27,2007, at a special
‘meeting, fhe_ Molecular boafd appfoved the mérger agreement with MDS. -
| 129. Froin Tues_day, January 22; 2007 through Friday, Jani_laryl26, upon
information and belief, Koval bdught 200 shares of Moiecﬁlar stock and ten Molecular
_Feb. 25 call option contracts in Vorobiev’s Terra Nova Account.
130.  OnMonday, January 29, 2007, Moieclﬂar publicly announced its
acquisition by tender offer by MDS. Molecular’s stock closed at $35.07, a_forty-vseven
- percent increése over the prior day’s closing price- of $23.88 per share. |
Bl Upoﬁ.informati(')n and belief, on January 29 and 30, 2007, Koval sold 300
shares of Molecular stock arid 25 call option cbntracts pu_rchaséd m the Terra Nova
_ Aocount.. Upon information and bélief, on FeBruary 8, 2007, Koval sold the remaining
200 shares of Molecular stock. In sum, Kovél’s trading in the Voroi)iev Terra Nova
- Account generated approximately $24,100 in profits from thé Molecular options and
- . $.6,10(_) in profits from the Molecular stock, for a total of $30,200.
- | V.iaCell; Inc. | |
132. Beghﬁﬁﬁg 1n late May 2007, and continuing thfough June 2007, ViaCell,
inc. (“ViaCell”) and Perkin Elmer, Inc. (“PKI”) engaged in preliminary discussions

K regardihg a possible business combination between the two companies. During this
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: 'perlod representatlves of UBS partlc1pated in 1nternal dlscusswns at V1aCell regardmg

L the ments of a potential busmess comblnatlon wrth PKI

133_. A_t all relevant times, Via_Cell’s eommon .stock was registered with the
' Cemnﬂesion pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exehahge Act and was traded on
. NASDA_Q. |
- 134. On June 28, '2007 PKI made a.proposal to VidCell to écqurre VidCell. On
the same day, V1aCe11 mformed UBS of the PKI proposal and asked- UBS to part101pate in
N telephomc meetmg of V1aCell’s Board of Directors on June 29, 2007. UBS part101pated
in that the telephomc board meeting on June 29 and was directed by ViaCell’s board to -
contmue dlscussmns wnh PKI regardmg a poss1ble sale of V1aCe11
| 135. On July 5,2007, VlaCell formally retained UBS as its ﬁnanc1al adVLSeI‘
regarding the potential sale of the company to PKI. On or about this same day, UBS listed .
ViaCell and PKI on its Grey List.
| 136.  The information that the ViaCell representativeé provided to UBS
regarding the contemplated transaction was highly confidential and was not ihte_nded to -
be disclosed befere the transaction was completed and publ_icly announced. |
137.  OnJuly 10, .2007, a special committee of the ViaCell _Bo'é.rd of Drrectors
instructed UBS to communicate to PKT’s ﬁnancial adviser that ViaCell we.nted a higher
- oﬂ’er than had prev1ously been submltted by PKI o _
| 138: On July 13, 2007 PKI prov1ded VlaCell w1th a non—bmdmg proposal that ‘
contamed a higher purchase pr1ce : |
139; F rom mid-July, 2007, through September 29, 2007 V1aCell and PKI

continued to engage in hrghly confidential negotlatlons and due d111gence reviews. UBS '
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o w'as act-ively i_nvolved in these negotiations and due dlllgence reviews in its capacity as
| VlaCell’s financial adviser. | | |
1'40;. " Onor before September 19, 2007 Poteroba, 1r1 his capac1ty asa UBS
erhployee, .ll'earned material, nonpubhc' mformatron regarding the poten_tral V1aCell |
acooisitton. _ | | | | o | _ | -
| 141. | On Wednesday, September 19, 2007, Kow)al called foteroba at 8;27 p-m. |
| and the ca11 lasted for two mintrtesﬁ A fe_w minutes later, _aroun_d 8:56 r).m.', Poteroba
‘calte_d Kovat alrd the called lasted for rtine ‘minutes. |
142. Upon irlfonnation and belief, during these or other corrurrunicatiorls
between Potero_ba and.Koval, Poteroba.tipped _I_(oval with material, nonpublic
_ information mgmd.mg the,.ViaCell_acquisitioh.' In doing so, Poteroba -misapprr)priated '
from UBS'material, nonpoblic information concerning ViaCell’s plans to be_ acquired.
143.  Upon irrformatio'n and belief between September 20, 2007 ahd September
26,2007, Koval bought 6,800 shares of ViaCell stock in Voroblev S Terra Nova
Account. In addltlon on September 20 and 21, Koval bought 2,000 shares of V1aCe]1
- stock in his Citigroup brokerage account at a cbst of $9,410._
144. On Mohday, October 1 2007, after the close of the market, ViaCell and
'PKI publicly announced that VlaCell would be acquired by PKI by a tender offer. On
| October 2 VlaCell’s stock closed at $7. 18 a ﬁfty-one percent mcrease over the prror o
day’s closmg prlce of $4.77 per share | | e
145.  Upon information and belief, on October 2, 2007, Koval sold all 6,800
shares of ViaCell stock in the Terra Nova'Account generating proﬁts of approximately

$16,700. On the same day, Koval sold all 2,000 shares of Viacell stock in his Citigroup

‘26_-' | :




- -bro.ke.ragel account realizing ill-lcit trading proﬁts of $5,045. -'The.illegal profits from the
| tradmg in both accounts totaled approxunately $21 750. e |
Radlatlon Therapy Servrces, Inc
l46. On March 27, 2007, Radiation Therapy Serv1ces, Inc. (“Radiatlon
Therapy™), a Flori_da corporation, through its ﬁnancial adviser, conﬁdentlally contacted

~overa dozen potential purchasers concerning a possible transaction,-includi‘ng the

o | ‘:purchase' of the company. Vestar Capital.- Partners, L.P.-(“Vestar”) was one of the parties

contacted by Radiatioh Therapy.
.. 147. At all relevant times, Radiatioh Therapy’s common stock was registered
with.the Commission pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange.Act and was traded on
. the N_ASDAQ. | | |
| 148.° In late luly 2007, Vestar requested that UBS provide fully committed |
'ﬁhancing for a leveraged buyout acquisition of Radiation Therapy by Vestar. |
| 149. The ihformatioh that.the Vestar represerrtatives subsequently provided to
: UBS _reg’arding the contemplated transaction was highly confidential and was not
.inte‘nded_to lbe disclosed before the transaction yyas completed and publicly announced. -
150. ‘On July 26, '2007.’ Poteroba sent an email to UBS’s internal compliance
| department (“UBS Compliance”) in which he identified himself as a member of the UBS |
o "‘Deal.'team that was workmg on a “Debt fmancmg project for Vestar with regard toa |
leveraged buyout of Radlatlon Therapy that was expected to be announced in m1d
E atlgust [sic]” and close ‘at the end of September

~151. Alsoon July 26, UBS placed Radratlon Therapy on the UBS Grey List.




152. On July 27, 2007 several UBS representatlves mcludmg Poteroba, took
. part in a conference call w1th Vestar. Poteroba arranged the call, the purpose of whlch
to dlSCUSS UBS initial views on the [Radlatron Therapy] leverage structure/pncmg
| . -and timing ofthe LBO.” | :
153‘.  On or about August 5, 2007 UBS representatives, mcludmg Poteroba, met
-in New York with Radiation Therapy’s chief executlve ofﬁcer
: 154.__ From late July through early October 2007, Poteroba and others at UBS-
continued to work on Vestar’s request for debt financing from UBS for a leveraged
buyout of Radiation Therapy. |
. 155, On Fnday, September 7, 2007 UBS Comphance sent an email to Poteroba
| | mqumng about the status of the Vestar bid for Radlatron Therapy Poteroba responded |
by email that “(t)he process just got restarted — Vestar is alive and workmg —I expect
bids (ﬁnal) at the end of the month.” |
156. - - On October 3,2007, UBS mformed Vestar that it would not participate in
the ﬁnancmg of an acqu1s1t10n of Radiation Therapy. Negot3at10ns between Vestar and
| _‘Radiation Therapy regarding a merger.continued through October 18, 2007. |
157. By October'S, 2007, P_oteroba, in his capacity as a UB.S emplo‘yee., had
learned material,_n‘onpub_lic information regarding the impending sale of Radiation
B .:,Therapy._ S | | | | B
| 158 On Monday, October 8 2007 Poteroba and Koval exchanged three phone |
calls each lastmg between one and two minutes. | |
159, Upon information and behef, during these or other cornmunications

- between Poteroba and Koyal, Poteroba tipped Koval' With material; nonpublic L




' in_fo‘rmatioﬁ regarding the i_tnpending Radiation Ther'apy acqujsiﬁon I doing so,
. Poteroba mj'sappropriated from UBS material, nonpublic information concernin_g'
| .Vestar’s plans to acqutre Rad1at10n Therapy
: _'.160. From October 9 2007 through October 12 2007 ‘upon mformatlon and
| behef Koval bought 1 500 shares of Radiation Therapy stock and four Radlatlon Therapy
_ Feb. 25 call option co_ntractS in Vorobiev’s Terra Nova Account at a cost of $34,441.
| 161.  On Friday, October_ 12,2007, UBS Compliance sent a_nother email to
.Po.teroba inquiring about the status of “[TJBS] advising/ﬁnancing Vestar Capital for__ the
acquisition of Radiation Therapy Services” and Poteroba responded by email, “We lost —
_ »pr'oces's is dead.” Although UBS Was not retained as an adviser to Vestar the
contemplated transactlon between Vestar and Radlatlon Therapy moved forward
-162. On Monday, October 15, 2007, upon 1nformat10n and behef Koval
'purchased an additional three Radiation Therapy call option contracts in the Terra Nova
‘Account. | |
163. On Friday, October T9’, 200_’/", Radiation Therapy and VeStar publicly
'a'rmounc_ed after themarket closed that Radiation Therapy was being. acquired by Vestar.
On Monday, October 22, Radiation’s stock closed at $30,.96, a forty-four percent increase
over the prior day’s closing price of $21.56 per share |
| . 164. Between October 22 and 25,2007, upon mformatlon and belief, Koval
..sold all 1 550 shares of Radlatlon Therapy stock and the seven call optlon contracts held

1in the Terra Nova Account, netting illicit trading p_roﬁts of approximately $ 16,200.
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Datascope Corp
- 165. By January 2008, representatlves of Mindray Medical International Ltd.
(“Nﬁndréy”), a Chinese corporation, had tetaxned UBS as its ﬁnanc1a1 adviser in .-
. c0nnéctit>ri with its pfoposed etcciuisiti’oh of the patién_t monitorin_g .business t)f Datascope
Corp (“Datascope”) a Delaware corporatlon o | |
166. Atall relevant times, Datascope s common stock was registered with the -
A Comnﬁssion pu__rsuant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act and was traded on the
"NASDAQ. | | | |
167. - The information that Mindray provided to UBS regarding the -
: contemplated transaction was highly cqnﬁden_tial and was not intended to be disclosed
| béfore .th'e transaction was 601.1'1p'1eted'.an'd t;ublit:ly announced. o |
168. On.January 16,. 2008, UBVS placed Mindray and Datascope on the UBS _'
Gréy List. In UBS’s internal réco_rds, Poteroba was listed as a member of the UBS team
é;dvisihg Mindray. | |
| 169..'By January 30, 2008', Poteroba, in his capacity as a UBS employe_e, learned
material, nonpublic infqrmation regardi_ng the Datascope business line acquisition.
170. On Thursday, January 31, 20_08, Poteroba (_:alled'K‘oval around 9;33 p.m.,'
'. and the call lasted approximately twenty-seven minutgs, | |
171, .' Upon information and belief, during these or other communica,tions__, : — .
bett&een Pt)teroba énd Koval, 'Pdtefdba tiéped Koval with tnatériaL nbnpublic' :
.infoi'mation reéardirtg t}terD'atascope. acciuiﬁtion. In doing so, Poter_o_l;a rtﬁsapibro_priated :
A _from UBS material, nonpublic information concerning Mindrzty’s plans to act;uire ttie ,

patient monitoring business of Datascope.
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.172; ) On Friday, Februaryl 2008, Koval logged into .Vor0biev’s Terra Nova |

B Account from his home computer and bought 300 shares of Datascope stock From

-February 4, 2008 through February 14, 2008 Koval purchased an addltional 1, 100 shares
~of Datascope stock in theTerra Nova Account. The total cost of these pu_rchases was
_ $47 932. | | | .
1_73 Between February 20 2008 and March lO 2008, Koval sold 900 shares of
vl)atascope_stock. | | B | _
'_ 174. On Tuesdav, March 'l.l',-' 2008, Mindray publicly announced that it was
acquiring Datascope’ls patient monitoring line-of busin_ess. Datascope’s stock closed at
| $38.28, a fourteen percent increase over the prior day’s closing price of '$33;53 per share.
. 175 ~ On Marchl 1, 2008,‘ Koval logged into Vorobiev"s.-'l"lerra lNova Account
from his home computer and sold the remaining 500 shares'.of Datascope stock. Koval’s
trading in the Vorobiev Terra Nova Account generated illicit trading profits of
approximately $1,100. . o
| - Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
“176.  On January 23, 2008, representatives of Takeda Pharmaceuticals Co. l,td;
(“Takeda”) met in Copenhagen with members of UBS’s investment banking department
: to discuss, among other things, Takeda’s contemplated acquisition of Millennium - |
-Pharmaceutlcals Inc. (“Mrllenmum”) and the formulation ofa plan to acquire Mlllenmum'.'_ B
for a prellmmary b1d of $23 00 per share. On the same date Takeda and UBS executed a

confidentiality agreement.




177 | At'all relevant times, I\/Iillehniurp’s'commoh"stock was regiStered with the
Commission pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act‘and was traded on -
'NASDAQ. | _’ o |

: 178. OnlJ anuary 24 2008 Takeda emalled to UBS adraft non-bmdmg proposal
'UBS placed Millennium on its Grey L1st_.

| 179 oﬁ February 1, 2008, Takeda sent to Millennium the non-binding proposal

to acquire Millennium for $23.00 per share.

180.  On February 15, 2008, Millennium’s Board of Directors agreed to allow.
- Takeda to eonduct limited due diligénce. Also on that date, UBS participated .in a |
| eonfe'rence call with Millennium’s ﬁhaneial advisers to discuas the offer and process. |

181. From February .21, 2008 throu_ghﬁﬁd-March 2008, Takeda and
Millennium eenducted due dili_gence.

182. On February 25,2008, UBS. representatives attended meetings at thich'
. .Mille'nnium managemenf provided an overview of the eoﬁlpany to 'repre_senpatives.'of
Takeda. Between February 25 and 29, 2005, UBS and Takeda representati.ves attended
additional meetings with Mille_nnium. ..

183. On March 5, 2008 representatives of UBS and Takeda met to discuss the

process and preliminary due d111gence ﬁndmgs regardmg Mlllenmum, and to formulate an o

| approach for submlttmg arevised non-bmdmg proposal to Mlllenmum
184, OnMarch 18 and 20, 2008, Takeda submitted to Millennium revised non-

bonding proposals to acquire Millennium.
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.- 185. On March 21 2008 'UBS sent to Takeda a presentahon outhnmg potentlal
lnvestor reactlon to merger of Millennium w1th Takeda. |
| 186. OnMarch 25, 2008-, Takeda and Millennium entered into an excldsivlty '
_-agreement | | |
187. OnMarch 26, 2008, UBS held an internal Faimess_Conlmittee meeting
- regarcling _"che preparation of a fairness Qphlion for Takeda’s Board of Directors.
188.  From March 31 to April 4, rep;esentatives of Takeda, UBS, Takeda’s
- outside l_egal couhs_el, Millennium, and Mi]lemﬁmn’s ﬁnancial and legal advis'ers met to
_ discuss the terms of the merger agreement.. |
189. On April 9, 2008, Mlllenmum s Board of Directors approved the terms of
' the merger agreement
190. The informatioh that Takeda provided to UBS regarding the contemplated
~ transaction was highly confidential and was not intended to be disclosed before the
 transaction was comple_ted and pub‘lic_ly ahnounced. '
| 191. Updn ihforrhation and belief, by Ma.rch 3, 2008, Poteroba, in his capacity
asa UBS employee, had.leamed material, honpublic information regarding the
Millennium acquisition.
192.- At 8:28 a.m. on l\/[arch 3, 2.008 l’oteroba sent an email’ to Koval With a
-subject line: “Can you pls g1ve a call th1s mormng ” At 12:03 pm., , Koval called
' Poteroba for one minute. Then, at 12: 46 p.m., Poteroba called Koval and the call lasted
| approx1mately four mmutes-. Poteroba called Koval again at approxunately 8;31 pm,

‘and they spoke for seven minutes.




193. Upon information and belief, dur1ng these or other cornnlunications o :
: between_Poter'oba and Koval; Poteroba ﬁpped Koval vvith material, nonpubhc
' informatron regarding the Mille,nniunr acquisition. In doing so, Poteroba |
nuSappropriated from UBS material, nonpublic information concerning Mil-lehniutn’s N
plans to be acquired. | |
194. On March 3, 2008, Koval logged into Vorobiev’s Terra Nova Account
from Koval’s home computer and bought ten Mlllenmum Apnl 15 call option contracts v_
| '_On March 5, Koval purchased ten Mlllenmum May 15 call optlons and 300 shares of : |
Millennium stock in the Terra Nova Account. On March 7, Koval purchased 700 shares -
of Mlllenmum stock in the Terra Nova Account. On March 10, Koval purchased ﬁve
rnore l\/hllenmum April 15 call optlons ﬁve more Mlllenmum May 15 call optlons and
800 more shares of Millennium stock in the Terra Nova Account. On March 11, Koval -
| .purchased 700 shares of Millennium shares.
| -195.  From Monday, March 10, 2008 through March 18, 2008, Koval also
* bought 2,000 shares of Millennium stock in his TD Ameritrade brokerage account at a
cost of $27,260. | | |
196. From March 26, 2008 through April 8, 2008, Koval bought an additional
800 shares of Millennjum stock and five Millennium May 17.5 call options in the Terra
. ..Nova Account. Koval’s total cost 1n purcha‘sing all of the M_illennium securities in the
B ;feﬁa Nova‘Ac‘co_u’nt was $47,136; -
197.  On Thursday, April 10, 2008, Millennium and Takeda executed the

" merger agreement and jointly publicly announced the merger and tender offer for
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Millennium. Millennium’s stock closed at $24.34,a forty-nine percent increase overthe

' _'pnor day s closing price of $16.35 per share
198 - On April 10, 2008 and Apr11 14 2008 Koval logged into Vorobiev’s |
‘- Terra Nova Account and sold all 3 300 shares of Mlllenmum stock and the th1rty ﬁve call
opt10n contracts. Koval’s tradmg in Vorobrev ] Terra Nova Account generated
_ approx1mately $65 200 in illegal profits.’ | |
'-1_99. Also on Aprrl 10 Koval sold all 2000 shares of M111enn1um stock in his -
TD Ameritrade brokerage account for a profit of $21,745. In sum, Koval realized 1llrc1t
| trading proﬁts of approx1mate1y $86,966. |
| Screle Pharma, Inc. _
.' l_ 200. In May 2008, a UBS mvestment banker spoke to representatrves of Sciele
| | Pharma, Inc. (“Sc1e1e”), a Delaware corporatlon, regardmg a potentlal acquisition of Sciele
by Shionogi & Co., Ltd. (“Shionogi”). |
201. At all relevant times, Sciele’s common stock was registered w1th the -
Comrrrission pursuant to Section: 12(b) of the Exchange Act and was traded onthe
NASDAQ. | | |
202. The information that Sciele provided to UBS regarding the contemplated
_ transaction was highly conﬁdential and was not intended to be disclosed before the

_ | transactron was completed and publlcly announced

203. By May 15 2008 both Sclele and Shronog1 were placed on the UBS Grey |

List. From mid-May 2008 through June 2008 Smele and Shronog1 conducted highly

confidential due diligence and Sciele conducted a management presentatlon for Shlonogi_.



o requ__e'st_.

--204. On June 30; Shioftogi éubmittc,d a written pu'rchése proposal toSciel'e and
" requested an exdu_sivity' agreement. OnJ uly 1, Sciele responded that the valuation

contained in Shionogi’s written proposal was low and declined Shionogi’s exclusivity

-_ 205. On July 2, 2008 the Sciele’ Boa:d of Directors held a special telephomc
meetmg to review, among other thmgs certam aspects of Sh10nog1 s offer and mstructed '
’ Sciele’s CEO to contmuc _dxscusslons with 'Smonogl. regarding a potential acquisition of
Sciele.. _ - | - |

.. 206. .On July 7, 2008 UES acting on behalf .of Sciele, irifornted Shionogi’s :
ﬁnancxal adwsers that any revised bid should be submitted by Shlonogl pnor to a'meeting
of Sclele s board that was scheduled to begm on J uly 31, 2008

207. By or before July 7, 2008 Poteroba, in his capa01ty as a UBS employee

“had learned matenal,‘ nonpublic information regardmg the Sciele -acqu151t_10n.

208.- On July 7, 2008, at 4:36 p.m.., Poteroba called Koval and the call lasted
one minute. Kovel called Poteroba that evening at 9:11 pm and the call lasted nine
minutes.

209. From July 9, 2008 through August 15, 2008,' Sciele participated in.due '

diligence reviews with several potential acquirers, including S»hionogi, and condltcted
_ management presentatlons for four other potential acqulrers L | _
- 210. On July 10 2008 Koval emalled Poteroba proposmg that they meet for
lunch during the following week, when Koval was gomg_ to_ be in New York. |
- 211. OnJ uly 1 1; 2008, Sciele conducted a managerﬁent pre_Sentétion for one . | '

~ potential acquirer.
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T 212! .‘On ‘Frid.ay, Jnly .1_.1,. 2008; Poteroba called.KoVal and the call lasted one , -
mine, | | |
| 213.  OnJuly 18,2008, a “transaction committee” of Sciele’s Board of Direct0rs :
| authonzed Sciele’s management to conclude due dlhgence negotlate deﬁmtlve |
acqulsmon agreements and announce a transaction by no later than September 1, 2008
214. On Monday, July 28 2008 Sh10nog1 submltted to Sc1ele a rev1sed b1d to
acquire Sciele. The b1d was rev1ewed by UBS. _
215. At 1:43 p.m. on July 28, Poteroba called Koval. from work and the called
lasted approxirnately 12 minutes. |
216. . Upon mformatron and behef dunng these or other commumcatlons
between Poteroba and Koval Poteroba trpped Koval with matenal nonpubhc |
information regarding the Sciele acquisition. In doing 50, Poteroba misappropriated
from UBS material, nonpt'lblic informa_tion concerning Sciele’s plans to be acquired.
217.  Later on July 28, at approximately 3:15 p.m., Koval logged into
Vorobiev’s Terra Nova Account and bonght 2,000 shares of Sciele stock, 10 Sciele Sept.-.
22.5 call option contracts, and IQ Sciele Oct. 22.5:call options. Qn the same day, Koval
sold 1,300 shares of Sciele stock from the Terra Nova ‘Account.
218.  On July 29, 2008, Koval bought 1,300 shares of Sciele stock and io Sciele
- Sept. 17.5 call optlon contracts in the Terra Nova Account
219. On J uly 30 Sciele recelved prehmmary written mdlcatlons of i mterest
from tt)vo prospective acquirers. Dnring the -_meeting of Sciele’s Board of Directors on’
vJuly 31 and August 1, the board received and considered' a prel‘iminary written tndication_ |

of interest from a fourth prospective acquirer.
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220. On August 4 2008, UBS mformed Sh10nog1 s ﬁnancral adviser that
Shronogr s acqulsrtlon proposal had been posrtlvely received by Sciele, but that Shronogr
would need to increase' its proposed acquisition price

) '22.1. On August 7,2008, a fifth prospectlve acqmrer subrmtted a prelumnary

. wntten mdlcatlon of interest to Sciele.

222‘. : -Between Au,gust 11 and August. 15, | 2008 Shionogi' representatives

) conducted due dlhgence on Sc1e1e and mterv1ewed Sciele management

. 223 On August 18 2008, the Transaction Commlttee of Screle s board held a

telephomc conference in which UBS participated. Durmg this conference UBS advised

that three of the prospec_t1ve_ acquirers were not mterested in pursumg a trans_actlon unless

" Sciele had_concluded- discussions with Shionogi. Also during t'hjs'confe"rence','the

Transaction Committee authorized Sciele management to conclude due diligence,
negotiate_deﬁnit_ive merger agreements, and announce a trarnsaction by no later than
September 1, 2008. -

224. Between July 31 and August 19; 2008, Koval bought an additional 1,300

'~ shares of Sciele stock in the Terra Nova Account. -

225.  On August 25, 2008, ,Ko'val sold 200 shares of Sciele stock held in the
Terra Nova ACcount '

12.-26.' : On August 26, 2008 Screle and Shmnogl commenced final negotlatlons

_ From August 26 through August 29, Sciele and Sh10nogr concluded their negotlatlons

and reached a final agreement. On August 29, _2008, UBS issued a falr_ness opinion .

regarding the proposed transaction.
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227, | On September 1, 2008 Screle pubhcly announced its acqu1s1t10n by
o Sh10nog1 by tender offer On September 2, Sciele’s stock closed at $21 a ﬁﬁy-nme _ |
N percent'lnc_rease over the prlor day s clos1ng price of $13 26-per share | |
| B . 228.. On September 2, 2008 Koval logged 1nt0 the Terra Nova Account and
o sold 3,100 shares of Sciele stock and twenty Sciele call optron contracts. On September
3, Ko‘val sold the remaining ten call optlon contracts held in the Terra Nova Account. |
- Koval’s tradmg in VOI‘OblCV s Terra Nova Account generated 1lhclt tradmg proﬁts of
. ‘: approxnnately $56,700. |
' lndevus Pha'rmaceuti.cals, Inct .

" 22'9.' : On September 19, 2008 the chref execut1ve ofﬁcers of Indevus
E _ Pharmaceuhcals Inc. (“Indevus )and Endo Pharmaceutlcals Holdmgs Inc (“Endo”).met
and d15cussed a potential combma110n of thelr respective companles Indevus S CEO
: mformed UBS of that d1scuss1on |

230, At all relevant tirnes; I_ndevus’s ._cornr’non stock was 'reg'i_stered with _t_he
: Cornrnission pursuant to Section lZ(b). of the Exchange Act and was .traded on
'NASDAQL | |

231. On September 30 2008, UBS in 1ts capacity as financial adviser to

-.'Indevus ‘sent a conﬁdent1a11ty agreement to Endo regardmg a potentlal busmess
: combmat1on and Endo executed the agreement | |
.» : 232 On October 1 2008 UBS placed Indevus on 1ts Grey List.
g , 233 The mformatlon that Indevus prov1ded to UBS regardlng the contemplated | :
'.transj?l‘;tion was hlghly co_nﬁdentxal _and. was not mtended to .be drsclosed before the o

transaction n&as'complcted and_',publicly announced.’ |
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234. On October 21 2008, the CEOs of Indevus and Endo d1scussed the nature. L

“of Endo s interest in Indevus and its valuatron Indevus s CEO mformed UBS of tlns _ |

o drscusswn. ,

B 235. From October 31, 2008 through November 21, 2008 Indevus and Endo
conducted due drlrgence and negotrated the terms of : a purchase agreement |
236. On November 20 2008, Poteroba called Koval at 8 23 p m. and the call _

S lasted five mmutes o

) 23_7. On November 21 2008 Voroblev called Koval ﬁom Russm at 10 26 p m. '_ :

and the call lasted one minute. Vorobrev called 'Kovalagam the followmg day at '1 :H

pm. and the call lasted one mmute On the same day, November 22 2008 Koval called -

Vorobrev in Russra at 1 22 p m. and the. call lasted seventeen mmutes

' 7.23"8. On November 25, the CEOs of Indevus and Endo met to discuss the status
of the potentral transaction and Indevus’s CEO requested that Endo i increase the per share
‘ -Iconsideration that it was offeringto acquire 'Indevus.‘ Indevus’s CEOhlfOMed UBS of
the discussion. | | |

- 239. OnDecember 3, 2008; Indevus provided_UBS w1th a revised financial
model and UBS discussed the model with _In_devus during a confe_rence cal_l.. Also on this
date, Endo continued its review of Indevus’s .non-publi'c inforrnati_on and Endo
3 .representatrves visited Indevus s manufactunng facilities: | |

3 240 By December 3 2008 Poteroba, in hrs capac1ty asa UBS employee

N ’ leamed materlal nonpubhc mformatron regardrng the negotlatlons between Indevus and

_ Endo ;
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. 2’41; _ On December. 3,_2003;'P0teroba'called Kovai ti_yo times. The ﬁrst. call
- Wa_.s"at 9:20 amand lasted. approximately one minute; the second call was at'tﬁ:ZS pm
- and lasted appror(imately two nnnutes | | | |

: _242.:_ Upon 1nformat10n and belief, durmg these and other communrcatlons a
.between Poteroba and Koval Poteroba t1pped Koval Wlth materlal nonpubhc : }l
' lnforrnatlon -regardmg the Indevus» acquisition. In domg s0, Poteroba_nnsappropriated
. from UBS mat_'erial, nonpubl_i_c: inforrnation cOncemrng'indevus’s negoti_ations v'vith. Endo. B

Koilat, in turn, tipped Vorobieu with material, né)npublic'information'regarding the o
Indevus acqisition. | R |

o 243 » On December 4 2008 UBS part101pated by telephone conference ina

" meetlng of Indevus s Board of D1rectors durmg; whrch the board dlSCllSSCd the valuatlon -
' .of Indevus as a stand-alone entity and consrdered several ﬁnancmg alternatrves
244. On December 4, 2008, at 9: 35 am. from his home computer Koval
- 'logged into Voroblev S Terra Nova Account and began buylng Indevus stock On

g December 4_Aand December _5 , 2008, Kov_al purchased 2,5_00 shares_ of _ Indevus _stock and
‘ten Indevus_Jan. 2.5 :call .Option contracts.at.a' cost of $6 263.

| 245. Also on December 4 and December 5,2008, the TD Amerrtrade brokerage 7 '
| account held.in the name of Koval’s wife, rehef defendant AnJ ali Walter, purchased
- '-4 ;000 shares of Indevus stock at a cost of $9 530 ' | ‘
y .,246. On December 8 and December 11, 2008 Koval purchased an add1t10na1 |
E | 800 shares of Indevus stock. , | |
' 724-"7 . On December 10, 2008 Endo s CEO conveyed to Indevus s CEO an

_'mcreased offer to acqurre Indevus

41



B 248. : Begmnmg on December 10 2008 through December 12, 2008 Vorobrev G

B purchased 6 980 shares of Indevus stock in hrs TD Amentrade account at a cost of |
| $18 852 From December 17 2008 through December 19, 2008 VOI'OblCV purchased an..

' addltronal 3, 750 shares of Indevus stock, for a total posmon of 10 730 Indevus shares 3

" - '249.' On December 10 2008 through December 18 2008 Tatlana Vorobleva s

TD Arner‘itrade account purchased 6,020 shares of Indevus stock at a cost-of $16 512 .

. _ 250 Begmnmg on Decémber 10 2008 and runmng through December 16

L '2008 Tatlana Vorobleva S RBC account purchased 14 400 shares of Indevus stock at a

. _ costof$38 894

| 251. On December 12, 2008 Endo S CEO sent a letter to Indevus s CEO
rerteratmg the mcreased offermg pr1ce Also on that date Endo sent a draft merger
: agreement to Indevus -and UBS part1c1pated ina conference call with Indevus.‘_to. drscuss
Endo’s revised offer and related consrderanons
_.'252, On December 14, 2008 Indevus’s Board of D1rectors authiorized Indevus '
semor management to proceed to fmahze a sale of the company to Endo
' 253< On December 16 and 17,2008, UBS partlclpated ina meetmg between
_Indevus and Endo-where _the merger agreement was negotr_ated and the. potentlal | |

| _integration of the two companies was discussed. . From December 17, 20.08 through :

S -January 5 2009 UBS partrcrpated n merger agreement negotlatlons between Indevus

| and Endo and the draftmg of transactlon documentatrom o
_ '25:4.' On December 24 Voroblev sold 350 shares of Indevus stock from h1s TD

~-Ameritrade brokerage account.




2850 Onf Monday; January 5, 2009, the respective boards of directors of Indevus - |

| '.and Endo approved the merger agreement and Indevus and Endo both 1ssued press
| releases pubhcly announcmg Indevus s acqu1s1tron by Endo by tender offer OnJ anuary
6, Indevus s stock closed_ at $5__.38, a seventy—four percent _mcre_ase over th_e pn0r day S
-closing price of $3. lO per share. | |

. 256. On January 6 2009 Koval logged into Vorobrev s Terra Nova Account

- 'ﬁom Koval’s home computer and sold all 3, 300 shares of Indevus stock and ten call

| optrons. Koval’s tradmg in Vorobrev s Terra. Nova Account'generated proﬁts of
_.v_$.112,084.' | | |

_ _ 25.7;- On the same day, rehef defendant Anjah Walter S TD Amentrade account -

: .:-sold all 4 000 shares of Indevus stock for an 1llega1 tradmg proﬁt of $1 I 750 | |

| 258. Al-so-on January 6, 2009, Voroble_v so'ld all 1_0,3 80 shares of Indevu_s stock '
in-his D Arher'itrade account, realizlng"illicit_tradingvproﬁts'of $25_,748..

. 259. ' On the same day, Tatiana Vorohieva;s accounts at RBC and D
Amentrade sold all 6,020 and 7,020 shares of Indevus stock, respectrvely, fora total
' 1llegal trading profit of $53,212.

Advanced Medlcal Optlcs, Inc.

2_60. In October 2008, Advanced Medlcal Optlcs Inc (“Advanced Medrcal”)

o sought the assistance of UBS in explormg potentral Caprtal ralsmg and corporate

N restructurmg transactrons Also in October 2008 Advanced Medlcal wrth the a331stance of -'
‘ another ﬁnanc_lal_'advlser, con_tacted selec_ted partres to drscuss a poss1bl_e acqmsrtl_on of, or

strategic transaction with, Advanced Medical.




| 261 At a11 relevant times, Advanced Medical’s common stock ‘was reglstered

B wrth the Commrss1on pursuant to Sectron 12(b) of the Exchange Act and was traded on

the- New York Stock Exchange

, 2_6_2. On October 22, 2008 the chlef executrve ofﬁcers of Advanced Medrcal and | ..

| Abbott Laboratones (“Abbott”) met for dmner to drscuss the pos51b111ty of an acqmsrtlon or' .
o snmlar merger transactlon between Advanced MedlcaI and Abbott |
- __ 263. On October 26 2008, semor management from both Advanced Medlcal and .

7 Abbott rnet to dlSCllSS,‘- among other thmgs, Abbott’s interest in an acqursmon_of, or,stmrlar

_ strateglc transactron mvolvmg, Advanced Medrcal

- _r_._3264. _v On November 3, 2008 a workmg group of Advanced Management

’ dlrectors and executrve leadershrp met wnh UBS to dlscuss arnong other thmgs possrble |
strategic altema_tlves available to Advanced Medical w1th respect to a possible sale of the

R company. | :

. - 265. On December 1, 2008 Abbott submltted to'Advanced Medlcal anon-

: bmdmg, prelrmmary proposal letter offering to acquire all of thc outstandmg shares of
Advanced Medical common_stock for cash in the prlce range from $12.00 to $23;QO per '

266 On December 8, 2008 Abbott began conducting due drhgence regardmg

S Advanced Medtcal

| ‘ .26'._7. On December 16 2008 Advanced Medlcal’s CEO contacted UBS to

' | .schedule a conference call for December 17 2008 regardmg a merger and acqmsrtron

o Also on December 16, UBS executed a conﬁdent1ahty agreement wrth Advanced Medlcal




'268.. On December 17, 2008 UBS placed Advanced Medrcal on. 1ts Grey List.

o 'Also on that date the CEO of Advanced Medlcal asked UBS to prov1de a farmess

o E oprmon wuh regard to Abbott’s prehmmary offer to acqurre Advanced Medlcal for $21 o

' ‘_'»to $23 per share
. The mformatlon that the Advanced Medlcal representatlves prov1ded to
UBS regardmg the,contemplated transaction was hrghly conﬁdentral‘ and was not'
o mtended to.be dlsclosed before the transactlon was completed and pubhcly announced
.; 270 From January 3 2009 through January 5 2009 UBS conducted due
dilig’ence'on Advanced Medlcal and prepared and _dehvered issued a fairness oplmon_to | B
Advanced Medrcal | o - | |
R 271 On January 5 2009 UBS parhcrpated in ameetmg of Advanced Medrcal’ .
Board of Dlrectors _at which Advanced _Medlcal’s outside legal counsel summarrzed the

terms and conditions of the draft nrerger agreement and plan of merger between Advanced |

R "_Med'ical and Abbott. ‘Also during that meeting, UBS and another financial adviser o ,

.' Advance_d_Medical'dis.cussed certain financial mattets pertaining to AdvancedMedical and

_ thé prop_osed- transaction | | |
) 272. - By January S, 2009 Poteroba, in his capacxty asa UBS employee had |
| ._.learned matenal nonpubhc information regardmg the Advanced Medical acqulsmon

273 On January S, 2009 Poteroba called Koval at. 2 45 p m. and the call lasted

= .s1x mmutes At 9 34 p m. that same day, Poteroba called Koval and the call lasted three _ |
: '_'.mmutes
274. . Also on January 5, 2009, Voroblev called Koval from Russm at 10: 24 p m.

- and the call lasted one mmute




: 275. From January 5 to January 11, 2009 Abbott completed 1ts due drhgence
review and representatrves of Advanced Medrcal and Abbott ﬁnalrzed the terms and
condrtrons of the draﬁ merger agreeme‘nt, plan of merger, and related documents.

276. . On Frrday, January 9 2009 Poteroba called Koval at 9: 56 am. and the

call lasted one mmute On the same day, Koval called Poteroba at 10 36 am. and the call -

o lasted five nnnuteSf =
o Uporl information and belief during this and other---corrnnmﬁcations
between Poteroba and Kova.l Poteroba trpped Koval with materlal nonpubllc 3 |
| . information regardlng the Advanced Medrcal acqursrtron In domg S0, Poteroba
o mrsappropnated from UBS materral nonpublrc 1nformatron concermng Advanced
- 'Medrcal’s plans to be acqmred | - | |
' 278. While Poteroba and Koval were: strll on the phone together or w1thm a
'minute after the end of t-he second ca_ll, at 10:41 a.m. on January 9, Koval logged into N
Vorobiev’s Tetra Nova Account:and-pla_Céd an order to.b..uy 1,000 shares of Advanccd.._. S
Med_ical stock. | | | | .
279._ Alsoon J anuary 9, Koval bought an additional 970 shares of Advanced
.l ‘Medlcal stock in Vorobiev’s Terra Nova Account The cost of the total 1 970 shares of
' '.'Advaneed 'Medrcal stock he purchased was $-17 604. Durlng that same day, KOVal.sold
" 170 shares of Advanced Medrcal stock from Voroblev s Terra Nova Account .
g0, On January 11, 2009, Advanced Medical’s Board of Directors and
| : executrve leadershrp met w1th the company s legal and ﬁnanc1a1 adv1sers mcludrng UBS . |
to review the proposed transactron and related documents Durrng the meetrng, the Board

-‘ of D1rectors approvcd the sale of Advanced Mcdlcal to Abbott
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281.. On January 12; 2009 prior to the opening of the market, Advanced Medrcal.
: and Abbott Jomtly announced that Abbott would acquire Advanced Medlcal by tender

oﬂer Advanced Medical’s stock closed at $21 50,a143 percent tncrease over the pI‘IOI‘

L ,day s closing price of $1 5. 03 per share.

- 282. On January 12, 2009, Koval sold 1 800 shares of Advanced Medrcal stock i :

o held in n the Terra Nova Account Koval’s tradmg in Vorobiev S Terra Nova Account
‘ 'generated 1lhc1t tradmg proﬁts of approx1mately $22 600 |

- , PharmaNet Development Group, Inc.

283. On November 26, 2008, the Board of D1rectors of PharmaNet

) Development Group, Inc (“PharmaN et”) met and authorized a competrtive auctlon process_ v, |

- 'that could result in the sale of the company UBS partrcipated in that meetmg and was
o authorized by the PhannaN et board to, among other things,-conduct a preliminary review
of potential acquirers. | o |
284. - Atall relevant times, PharmaN et’s cornrnon stock was registered with the
Commi_ssion pursuant to Section 12(b) of the E)rchange Act and was traded on
‘ NASDAQ,
285. On November 28, 2008, a “strategic alternative committee”. (“SAC”) of the
- | PharmaNet board met telephonically with PharrnaN et senior management, UBS, and |
L | .P.harrna'Net’s .outSide leéal counsel participating. Durlng the .telephonic meeting, UBS .
provided an updaI_e. reéardhg discussions thatit had. .cond.uct'ed wnh potentia_l acquirers.- -
286. ..-O_n Decernber 5, 2008, the PharmaNet board met with the- company’s 'senior- e

management, UBS, and outsid_e legal counsel. During this meeting, UBS representatives



o discussed potential -acqmrers and the PharmalNet board instructed UBS to contact potential

~ acquirers to invite them to partrclpate 1n a formal auctlon process ' o
287. On December 8, 2008 UBS dehvered to each of the potent1a1 acqun'ers and
several pnvate equlty mvestors a wntten mv1tatron to submit wntten, prehmmary non--
| .' bmdmg mdrcatlons of mterest by 1 December 16 2008 | o |
- '288; . On December 16, 2008 representatives of UBS particrpated in atelephomc |
o _'-_-Qonfcrence w1th the SAC, PharmaN et sem}or rnanagement,_ and outs_lde legal_‘cou_nsel;
: IA Dunng the conferenee call, UBS summarized-the six_ indicaﬁons of interest that"bad_ b»een‘ : _" -
received. | | . o | “ |

: 2_89’ : On December 17, 2008 the'PharmaNet board met W1th senior _

R ’-’management UBS and others Durmg the meetrng, UBS discussed the status of the sale -

' __process and the prehmmary mdlcatlons of interest that had been recerved Also during

‘ .this meeting, the PharmaNet board decided to proceed with a second round of bidding, 7'

: wrth best and final b1ds to be due on January 28 2009

1290. On December 18, 2008 PharmaN et pubhcly announced that it was workmg

| “with UBS to pursue strategrc alternatlves mcludmg a potent1a1 sale of the company
291.  From December 22, 2008 through Januar.y 13, 2009, _PharmaNet and UB_S |
: g ‘comrnunicate'd with a num‘ber of potential bidder's.rega-rding conﬁdential due diligence |
'rev1ews On January 12 and January 13, 2009 UBS sent wntten mv1tat10ns to potentral
| acquirers of PhannaNet requestmg that they subrmt “best and ﬁnal” offers to acquire or

,make an alternatlve investment in PharmaNet no later_ than J anuary 28; 200_9;




292 | -'_l‘he' .'m'_format_ion' tlrat"PharmaN et proyided to UBS regardmg the’
contemplated transaction was h1ghly eonﬁder_r__tial‘ and _w.as.n'ot' intended to_ be disclosed
. '.b-efo_r.e'the transaction was combleted and'publicly "announced ’

o 293. ) Although Poteroba was not a member of the deal team he commumcated

. w1th the head of UBS’s Healthcare Group about the transaction and was copred on 1 email

o _. messages regardmg the deal. On Tuesday, January 13 2009 at 10: 35 pm., Poteroba |

- _forwarded an emarl to the UBS Healthcare Group team leader for the PharmaN et deal

mdlcatmg that a UBS chent was mterested in learnmg more about the PharmaN et
| opportumty The team leader responded by emarl statmg “Process 1s in 8 mnmg any
way No other buyers (certamly not sponsors) wrll be consrdered ” | |
- 294.‘: On Wednesday, January 21, 2009 at ll 22 am., Poteroba was copred on
an emarl from a member. of the UBS PharrnaN et team, in whrch the team member stated:
[W]e are recervmg final bids on PharmaN et on Wednesday the 28th w1th an important
" Board meetmg the morning of Frrday the 30th | |
: 295 On Fr1_day, J anuary 23_,:20_09,\ Poteroba went to meet w1th ,ano'therUBS_
elient and was accom_nanied by the Ul3.S team leader for the PharmaN et _tra_nsaction.
| 296. By January 23, ‘2(-)09 Poteroba, in hjs capaeity as aUBS employee,_
-learned material, nonpubhc mformatron regardmg the PharmaN et acqursrtron
. 297 - The same. day, at l() 23 p m., Poteroba called Koval and the call lasted _ v, _
' "twelve m.mutes Less than ﬁve mmutes aﬂer the 1mt1al ca11 ended Poteroba called Koval .
) again and the call lasted for _two-mmutes_. _ |
v298. | 'Upon information and belief, durin'g '.thes_e or other eommunleations

between Poteroba and Koval,-'-l’_o_teroba-ti_pped Ko_va‘l with material, nonpublic




. 4mformat10n.regard1ng the PharmaN et acqulsmon In domg So, Poteroba
‘ rmsapproprlated from UBS materral nonpubhc mformat10n concemmg PharmaN et s
" plans to be acqurred Koval in turn, tlpped Vorobrev with the matenal nonpubhc
: mformatlon he received from Poteroba B - ) | .
299 On the followmg Monday, January 26 2009, Koval bought 14 000 shares }
| s of PharmaNet stock in Vorobiev’s Terra Nova Account at a cost of $19,854. )

e 30 On the next’ day, January 217, 2008 Vorobrev purchased atotal of 11, 900 :

| L -shares of PharmaN et stock 1n h1s TD Ameritrade brokerage account ata cost. of $16 396. -

} 301 . Also on J anuary 27,2008, Tatiana Vorobleva sRBC account purchased
54 000 shares of PharmaN et stock at a cost- of $76 087 On the same day, Tatlana
: Vorobreva s TD Amerltrade account purchased 14 300 shares of PharmaNet stockata = :
cost of$19 338. | | |
3:(')_2.' On January 28, 2009 Koval bought an add1t10nal 3 000 shares of |
o PharmaN et stock in the Terra Nova Account )

303. '_ On January 28, 2009 Voroblev bought an additional 3,490 shares of

B 'PhannaNet stock in hlS TD Amerrtrade account

- Also on January 28,.2009, Tatlana Vorobieva’s RBC account bought an -

. N add1t10na1 6 000 shares of PharmaNet stock and her TD Amerltrade account bought an

o .--'addrtlonal 2, 740 shares of PharmaNet stock

B 305 At 11 31 p m. on the mght of January 28 2009 Poteroba placed a call to

Koval and the call lasted one mmute




306, ' The next day,-Janﬁary 2“9 2009, Koval bought 4,000 more sha;es“of?
: PharmaNet stock in the Terra Nova Account At3 :27 p.m. on J anuary 29 Koval placed a
" call to Poteroba that lasted two minutes. |
- 307. OnlJ anuary 29 Voroblev purchased 3,540 more shares of PharmaN et
stock in his TD Amerltrade brokerage account | |
: 308. Also on January 29 Tatlana Vorobieva’s RBC account bought 6,000 more .
: shares '}of_' PhannaN_et,stock 'and her TD Ameritrade a0coun_t bought 3,550 more shares of -
. l’harrhﬂetstock : o | | | |
1309.  On January 30, 2‘009, UBS representatit/es met with PharmaNet’s Board

of Dlrectors and sehior management to review the bids that had been recelved in the

- 'second round of the auctlon PharmaN et’s board dec1ded to request that the two hlghest

| bldders in the second round of the auction submit “best and final bids’ by Februaryv6, _
2009. | |
: 310.: - On January 30, 2009, 'at 9:18 a.m. and 9:21 am,, Koval placed orders to

. “buy .3_,0_00 and .5,000 shares_ of PharmaNet stock,- respectively, in the Terra Nova Accoun_t.

' ~ HoweVer,__these orders were not executed. At 2:13 p.m, on the ‘same day, Koval bought.
5,000 shares of PharmaNet Stock in the Terra Nova Accountt At 6v:'28 p.m. that day,

~ Poteroba .placed acall to Koval Which-lasted one minute. Forty—ﬁve mjnutes later, at
.' _ __7 18 p m., Koval placed a call to Poteroba and the call lasted four mmutes .
o 7 "-31 1. On February 1, 2009 aﬂer accelerated negotrat1ons between PharmaNet B |

o and the remammg two b1dders the bidders subrmtted their ﬁnal bids.




.3 12. On February 2, 2009, after"discussing the tw_o_p'roposals with UBS and

" other_ advisers, the PharmaN et board voted to accept abid frorn JLL Parn_ler's and

- 'aFthQriZ,ed rnanagement to ﬁnahze the nlerger agreement o o |

| ‘ 3 13.. On February 2, 2009 at 9:26 a. m., Koval used h1s home computer to log

_into the Terra Nova Account and bought a final 4 000 shares of PharmaN et stock

Between 12:20 p m. and 5:43 p.m. that day, Koval and Poteroba exchanged elght

| «telephone calls, the longest of wh1ch lasted three mmutes From Je anuary 26, 2009

- thr_O_‘__l_g-h February 2, ‘2009_, Koval purchased a total of 3Q,_00_O sh_ares of PharmaN et sto_ck'. i

314. Also"on February 2 2009 .‘Vor_obiev bought a final 14 270 shares of : |

- PharmaNet stock in h1s TD Amentrade brokerage accounts From January 217, 2009

o through February 2 2009 Voroblev purchased a total of 33 200 shares of PharrnaN et

stock. | |
315. Also on February 2, 200§ ‘Tatiana Vorobieya’s RBC account bought

18,100 shares of PharmaNet stock and her TD Amerltrade account bought 14, 600 shares

: of PharmaN et stock. Between January 27 2009 and February 2, 2009, accounts in the |

~name of Tatiana Vorobieva purchased a total of 119, 290 shares of PharmaNet stock.

316. On Tuesday, F ebruary 3 2009, pnor to the opemng of trading, PharmaNet
| : and JLL jointly publicly announced that PharmaNet would be acquired by JLL Partners ‘
'dfor $5. OO per share in a tender offer The February 3 closmg price of PharmaN et was

$4 64 an mcrease of $3 30 from the pnor day s closmg pnce of $1. 34 per share |
| -317. On February 3, 2009 and February 4, 2009 Koval sold all 30,000 shares

~of his PharmaNet stock in the Terra Nova Account. Koval’s_tradmg in Vorobiev’s Terra

52



| : Nova Account generated proﬁts of $97 888 As a result, Koval earned a return on :
investment of approxrmately 240 percent in seven tradrng days )
1318, On February 3, 2009 and February 4 2009 Vorobrev sold all of h1s ,.
| PharmaNet stock in hlS TD Amerrtrade account and reahzed proﬁts of $187 732 \
| 319. On February 3 2009 and February 4 2009 Tatiana Vorobleva s TD

- Ameritrade account sold all of its PharmaNet stock and realrzed proﬁts of $1 15 756

" Between February 4, 2009 and February 7, 2009 Tatlana Vorobleva S RBC account sold _ -

~all of its PharmaNet stock and realized profits of $289, 953 The combmed proﬁts from |
111egal tradrng in’ accounts in the name of Tatrana Vorobleva were $405 709

The Transfer of Funds

320. In March 2009 $356 720 was transferred from Tatrana Vorobreva s RBC - .

acCQunt - the account in which PharmaN et trades were traded - to her TD Amentrade
brokerag_e account. The transfer left her RBC account with a zero balance_.._
3'21'. : Subseque'ntly,. approxirnately $530,000 was transferred f_rom the
Vorobievs’ respective TD Ameritrade brokerage accounts to accounts at several ‘banks m :
' ‘Russia.

322. From January 2008 to the present, Koval regularly has wrthdrawn funds

| from Voroblev s Terra Nova Account The Terra Nova Account has a bankmg feature that: . _

- links the brokerage account to'an account malntalned at another mstltutron that prov1des S

| among other thlngs access to funds in the Terra Nova Account through automated teller .

: machmes (“ATMs”) Slnce January 2008 Koval has wrthdrawn funds in varymg amounts' .

- from the Terra Nova account, rangmg between $800 and $16 000 per month (except for the

: period October through Decernber 2008, when there were no cash w1thdrawa1s) usmg o
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.' ?vanous bank ATMs located w1th1n blocks of Koval’s places of employment in Pasadena, - '

o Calrfomra and Chrcago 111m01s In total, from 2008 through the present, Koval has.

o thhdrawn approx1mately $125 000 in cash from the Terra Nova Account

_ 323 Smce May 2009 Koval also has transferred more than $50 000 from hrs
__secunt1es accounts to accounts held in the name of his w1fe rellef defendant Anj al1 Walter |

FIRST CLAIM

(V iolations of Exchange Act Section 10(b) [15 U.S.C. §78](b)] and
c Exchange Act Rule 10b-5 [17 C F.R. §240 10b- 5]) '

324, Paragraphs 1 through 323 are hereby re-alleged and mcorporated by |
-reference'.- _

e 325. As descnbed above Defendants Poteroba, Koval, and Vorobrev engaged
71n an 111egal msrder tradrng scheme in whrch each possessed and used matenal nonpublic
“information which they knew, should have known, or were reckless in not knowing, was

obtamed in breach ofa duty of trust or conﬁdence and/or t1pped others who used that
matenal nonpubhc mformatron to purchase or sell securltles |

" _' 326. | By the1r conduct descrlbed above Defendants Poteroba Koval and
: .Vorob‘iev, in connectron with the purchase or-sale of secunttes, by the use of any means
or..'instrumentalities'of -interstate commerce or lof the marls or of any factlity of any
natlonal secuntres exchange drrectly or 1nd1rectly (a) employed dev10es schemes. or
e artrﬁces to defraud ®) made untrue statements of materlal fact or omrtted to state -_ o

| materlal facts necessary in order to make the statements made in the llght of the |

: cucumstances under wh_rc_h they were made, not'mrsleadmg; or- (c) engaged in acts,
pr.actices', or course of buslness Which operates or would operate asa frau'd or deceit upon

any ‘persons, including purchasers or sellers of the securities.
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' '3.27',‘ - By engaging in the conduct described above, ]jefendants Poteroba, Koval,

_.and-Vorobiev violated Section 10(b) of the -EXchange Act[15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule

10b5 [17CFR §24o 10b- 5] thereunder

SECOND CLAIM -

(V iolations of Exchange Act Sectlon 14(e) of the Exchange Act 15 US.C. '§ 78n(e)] -

"~ and Exchange Act Rule 14e-3 thereunder [17 C. F R. § 240 14e-3])

328. Paragraphs 1 through 323 are hereby re-alleged and mcorporated by ‘
- ‘reference. | -
329. Prior to the pilblic announcement of the tender offers for Molecnlar

- Devices Corp V1aCell Inc.; Mlllenmum Pharmaceutlcals Inc.; Sc1ele Pharma, Inc

' ._:'Indevus Phannaceutlcals Inc Advanced Medical Optlcs Inc and PharmaNet

Development Group,_Inc., andaﬂer a'substantlal step or.steps to cormnence each of the
' afore-mentioned tender offers had been taken, Poteroba, while in possession of material
information relating to each o_f the tender offers, which information he k'ne'n_/ or had
- reason to know was nonpnblic andhad been acquired directly or indirectly from the.
offenng company, the issuer, or any ofﬁcer dnector partner or employee or other

person actmg on behalf of the oﬁ'enng company or issuer, commumcated matenal

: _nonpubllc 1nformat10n relatmg to each of the tender offers to Koval under circumstances

in which it was reasonably foreseea’ole that the commurucatlon was hkely to result in the

- purchase and sale of the secuntles referenced above. .
330, | Prio_r.to' the public ’_a_nnoun_ce_ment' of th'e' tender offers for t_he-: compa_ni'es

" and after a substantial step or steps to comrnence'e'ach of the”tend'eroﬁ‘e‘rs had been

'taken, Koval wlnle in possessmn of matenal mformaﬁon relatmg to the tender offers -

wh1ch mformatlon he knew or had reason to know ‘was nonpubhc and had been acqu1red .




' dJIeCtly or indlr_ectly ﬁdm the oﬂ’ering!company, _t-he issuer, o'r_r any ofﬁcer, director, :
o partner, .or_e'mployee,ﬂ or_ .other person _acting' on behalf of the offering company or issuer,' |
purchased secur-'ities' in each of the companies ldentiﬁed in paragraph 329 above..

_ | 331 Pnor to the publ1c announcement of the tender offers for the compames

. and after a substantla.l step or steps to commence each of the tender offers had been.
taken,' V_O.IfObICV,'Wl.lﬂC' in p‘ossess1on of mate_rlal mformatlon telatmg to t_he tender offers,
R | Whlch informatiori he knevv or had reason to'.know was nonpuhli_c and had been acquired '
drrectly or mdlrectly. from the offermg companv, the i issuer, orany ofﬁcer d1rector

B partner or employee or other person acting on behalf of the offerlng company or issuer,

R | purchased secuntles in Indevus Pharmaceutlcals Inc ~and PhaImaNet Development

.Group, Inc 1dent1ﬁed in paragraph 329 above |

| 332 By reason of the conduct descrrbed above Defendants Poteroba, Koval
'. “and Vorob1ev violated. Sectlon l4(e) of the Exchange Act[15U.S.C. § 78n(e)] and

E : Exchange Act Rule 14e-3 [17 CF. R § 240 14e-3] thereunder

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE plalntlff respectfully requests that this Court enter a final
judgmenti
N A._ ' Permanently enj onung each defendant from vrolatmg, directly or

. mdrrectly, Sectlon 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U S C. § 781(b)] a.nd Exchange Act

o Rule 10b- 5 [17 C. F R§ 240 10b 5] thereunder and Sectlon 140 of the Exchange Act -

o -_ [15 U S.C. § 78n(e)] and Rule l4e-3 [17 C. F R. § 240, 14e—3] thereunder,
o B. Ordenng each defendant and rel1ef defendant to drsgorge thh

. prejudgment mterest all 1111c1t tradmg proﬁts or other ﬂl-gotten galns recelved asa result




Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] thereunder and Section 14(c) of the Exchange Act

‘ [15 U.S.C. § 78n(e)] and Rule 14e-3 [17 C.F.R. § 240.14¢-3] thereunde‘r_;.

B. Ordering each deféndaht and relief defendant to disgorge, with

- "pr(_ajudgn-lent interest, all illicit trading profits or other ill-gotten gains réceived as aresult .

" ofthe conduct alleged in this complaint, includ_ing,. as to'ieach'defendz'mt-'and relief

. defendaht, their own illicit trading profits or other il'l-gb'tten' gains, and, as to each tipper, =

. the illicit trédi_ng prbﬁts or other ill-g’dtt_'en gains of their direct and indirect tippees; |

-C. Ordering each defendant to pay a civil monetary penalty pufsuant to Exéhangé- Act

Section 21A [15 U.S.C. § 78u-1]; an

D. 'Gra'nting'suc_h other and ﬁiﬂhér’- relief as the Court deems justand

: apbropriate. |

‘Dated: New York, New York

March 24, 2010

of Counsel
. Antonia CthIl
* Yuri B. Zelinsky
Vinyard V. Cooke
Kelly . Rock
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Respectfully submitted,

Joseph Boryshansky (JB-8330)
3 World Financial Center
New York, NY 10281
212:336-0113

212-336-1348 (FAX)

Richard E. Simpson (RS5859)

~ Sarah L. Levine MA 615718)

100 F Street N.E.

Washmgton, D.C. 20549-4030
202-551-4511

202-772- 9245 (FAX)
Attorneys for Plaintiff-

' Secuntles and Exchange Commlssmn
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